2006

Cook v. Cook : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this matter pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(h), Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. **Issue:** Did the trial court, Commissioner Arnett, err in dismissing Mr. Cook's Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce for failure to state a claim for relief? Is it possible that Mr. Cook may be entitled to relief under any set of facts as alleged in his Verified Petition to Modify?

Standard of Review: When determining whether a trial court properly granted a motion to dismiss a complaint, the factual allegations in the complaint are to be accepted as true, and the appellate court is to consider them and all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. *Russell Packard Dev. Inc. v. Carson*, 78 P.3d 616 (Ut. App. 2003). Because the matter is a question of law, there is no deference given to the trial court, and its ruling is reviewed under a correctness standard. *Id.* The dismissal will be affirmed only if it is clear that the claimant is not entitled to relief under any state of facts that could be proven to support the claim. *Colman v. Utah State Land Bd.*, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990).

Preservation for Review: The dismissal of the Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce was preserved below with the filing of the Verified Petition to Modify (Rec. 1956-1970); the recommendation of dismissal by the Commissioner (Rec. 2284-

2285), the Objection filed to the Commissioner's Recommendation (Rec. 2289-2299) and the Order From Hearing Held May 4, 2006. (Addendum, Exhibit E).

2. **Issue:** Did the trial court, Commissioner Arnett, err in dismissing Mr. Cook's Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce based on a claim that the parties may have contemplated the change in custody prior to the entry of the Divorce Decree, when there is no evidence that such a change was contemplated, and the Divorce Decree contains no provision anticipating such a change, but provides custody to another person.

Standard of Review: See Standard of Review for Issue 1 above.

Preservation for Review: See Preservation for Review on Issue 1 above.

3. **Issue:** Did the trial court, Judge Medley, err in denying Mr. Cook's Objection to the Commissioner's Recommendation based upon an abuse of discretion review of Commissioner Arnett's Recommendation? Is Mr. Cook entitled to a de novo review of the Commissioner's Recommendation by the trial court Judge?

Standard of Review: The procedures employed by the trial court presents a question of law, reviewed under a correction of error standard, giving no particular deference to the trial court's determination. *Ames v. Maas*, 846 P.2d 468, 471 (Ut. App. 1993); *Holm v. Smilowitz*, 840 P.2d 157, 160 (Ut. App. 1992).

Preservation for Review: See Preservation for Review on Issue 1 above and the Order From Hearing Held May 4, 2006, attached in Addendum as Exhibit E.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Proceedings

Prior Appeals:

This case involves a divorce proceeding filed in the Third District Court. An appeal has already been filed involving the divorce proceeding and the trial held, including the imputation of income and the court's ruling regarding the support payments for child support and alimony. This appeal is currently pending. [**Appellate Case No. 20050733-CA**].

A second appeal was filed in this proceeding regarding a subsequent contempt proceeding held before Judge Medley, on March 1, 2006; based on Mr. Cook's failure to obtain health insurance for the children, and to pay the full amount of the support obligations, which were previously imputed. This appeal is also currently pending. [**Appellate Case No. 20060276-CA**].

This Appeal:

This appeal involves the filing of a Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce, that was filed by Mr. Cook, on or about September 27, 2005. (Rec. 1956-1970). Mr. Cook alleged a substantial and material change of circumstances, after entry of the Decree on August 2, 2005; as on August 11, 2005 the physical custody of the parties' minor child, James Gardner Cook, was improperly relinquished to the care, custody and control of the maternal grandparents, Glen and Jody Gardner. (Rec. 1956-1970).

The Petition was served on Ms. Cook on September 29, 2005. No answer was filed to the Petition within the time allowed by law. On October 20, 2005, Mr. Cook filed a Default Certificate. On or near January 6, 2006, Ms. Cook filed a Motion to Quash and Memorandum, claiming that the service of process was defective. On January 6, 2006, a hearing was held before Judge Medley on the matter. Judge Medley indicated that he was inclined to sign the Default Certificate, absent the filing of the Motion to Quash and Memorandum. Judge Medley remanded the matter back to Commissioner Arnett for a hearing to address the Motion to Quash and Memorandum. (Rec. 2137). The matter was set for a hearing on February 28, 2006.

On January 13, 2006, before the hearing on the Motion to Quash was held, Ms. Cook filed a Motion to Dismiss Respondent's Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce based on the grounds that Mr. Cook had failed to allege a material and significant change in circumstances. (Rec. 2144). Mr. Cook objected to the Motion to Dismiss as being untimely, as the deadline to file a responsive pleading expired on October 19, 2005. Further, Mr. Cook argued that Judge Medley had only remanded the matter to the Commissioner for a hearing on the Motion to Quash Service of the Petition, and not for hearing on a Motion to Dismiss the Petition. (Rec. 2224-2230).

In addition to the late filing, Mr. Cook argued that the Petition to Modify could not be dismissed as he adequately alleged a substantial and material change in circumstances to proceed on his Petition to Modify. The relinquishment of custody for the minor child to the maternal grandparents was not contemplated in the Divorce

Decree. The Decree awards custody of the minor child to Ms. Cook, not the maternal grandparents. Mr. Cook argued that there was no provision in the Decree contemplating the relinquishment of the care, custody and control of the minor child to the maternal grandparents, or for the grandparents to serve in any capacity other than grandparents. (Rec. 2224-2230).

Commissioner Arnett never heard argument on the Motion to Quash as referred by Judge Medley, but only on Ms. Cook's Motion to Dismiss. Commissioner Arnett recommended that Ms. Cook's Motion to Dismiss the Verified Petition to Modify be granted and that Mr. Cook's Petition to Modify be dismissed. (Rec. 2284-2285). Mr. Cook filed an Objection to Commissioner's Recommendation (Rec. 2289-2299), and the matter came on for hearing before Judge Medley on May 4, 2006. Mr. Cook argued that the Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce, did state a claim for relief, e.g. a substantial and material change in circumstances; and that if the allegations were proven, Mr. Cook could be entitled to the relief sought in his Petition to Modify. (Rec. 2293-2294).

Judge Medley issued a final ruling on the matter on May 4, 2006, denying Mr. Cook's Objection to the Commissioner's Recommendation, not ruling on the issues raised by Mr. Cook, but rather by stating that there was "no abuse of discretion by Commissioner Arnett" in granting the Motion to Dismiss the Verified Petition. (See Addendum, Ex. E).

Statement of Facts

The following Statement of Facts relate to this appeal:

1. A Divorce Decree was entered in the above matter on or about August 2, 2005; providing that custody, care and control of the parties' minor child, James Gardner Cook, shall be awarded to Ms. Cook. (Divorce Decree, Rec. 1738-1749).

2. A Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce was filed on September 27, 2006, alleging that the parties' minor child, James Gardner Cook, had been abandoned by Ms. Cook; and that after entry of the Decree on August 2, 2005, the physical care, custody and control of James Gardner Cook, was improperly relinquished to the maternal grandparents, Glen and Jody Garner on August 11, 2005. (Rec. 1956-1970). This change of custody was contrary to the Divorce Decree, which awards custody, care and control of the minor child to Ms. Cook and not the maternal grandparents. (Divorce Decree, Rec.1739-1749).

3. An answer was not timely filed to the Petition to Modify and a Default Certificate was filed by Mr. Cook. Ms. Cook filed a Motion to Dismiss the Default Certificate, claiming that service of process was defective. (Rec. 2095). Ms. Cook subsequently filed a Motion to Quash and Memorandum, again claiming a defective service of process. (Rec. 2132-2133).

4. Judge Medley did not sign the Default Certificate, because of the Motion to Quash and Memorandum. Judge Medley remanded the matter to the Commissioner to specifically address the Motion to Quash and service of process issues. (Rec. 2137).

5. The hearing was set for hearing before the Commissioner on February 28, 2006; however, before the hearing on the Motion to Quash could be held, Ms. Cook on or about January 13, 2006, untimely filed a Motion to Dismiss the Petition to Modify. (Rec. 2144). This Motion to Dismiss was based on the grounds that Mr. Cook had failed to allege a material and significant change in circumstances. (Rec. 2144).

6. At the hearing, the Commissioner did not hear argument or rule on the Motion to Quash and service of process, as remanded by Judge Medley; but rather ruled on the Motion to Dismiss. The Commissioner recommended that the Motion to Dismiss be granted (Rec. 2284), and that the Petition to Modify Divorce Decree be dismissed. (Rec. 2285).

7. Mr. Cook filed an Objection to the Commissioner's Recommendation arguing that the Motion to Dismiss was untimely filed, i.e., nearly 3 months after the Default Certificate had been filed; that only the Motion to Quash was properly before the Commissioner; and most importantly that the Petition to Modify adequately stated a substantial and material change of circumstances, that if proven could support the relief requested. (Rec. 2293-2298).

8. On May 4, 2006, Judge Medley heard from both parties as to the Commissioner's recommendation and issued a final ruling on the matter. Judge Medley did not rule on the issues raised by Mr. Cook, but rather stated that there was "no abuse of discretion by Commissioner Arnett" in granting the Motion to Dismiss the Verified Petition. (See Addendum, Ex. E).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A motion to dismiss a complaint is to be granted and affirmed only if it is clear that the claimant is not entitled to any relief under any state of facts that could be proven to support the relief sought. *Colman v. Utah State Land Bd.*, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990). When determining whether a trial court properly granted a motion to dismiss, the factual allegations in the complaint are to be accepted as true and the appellate court is to consider them, and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from them, in a light most favorable to the claimant. *Russell Packard Dev. Inc. v. Carson*, 78 P.3d 616 (Ut. App. 2003).

To succeed on a petition to modify, the moving party must show a substantial and material change of circumstances has occurred and that the change was not contemplated in the previously entered decree. *Boyce v. Goble*, 8 P.3d 1042 (Ut. App. 2000). Mr. Cook's Petition to Modify in this case alleges a substantial and material change of circumstances by asserting that after entry of the Decree; the care, custody and control of the parties' minor child, James Gardner Cook, was improperly relinquished to the care, custody, and control of the maternal grandparents, Glen and Jody Gardner.

The relinquishment of custody to Glen and Jody Gardner is not provided for in the Decree, nor contemplated in the Decree. The Decree specifically awards the care, custody and control of the minor child to Ms. Cook, and not to the maternal grandparents. The maternal grandparents have no specific rights under the Decree.

The Petition to Modify does allege sufficient allegations, which if proven true and taken in a light most favorable to Mr. Cook, may entitle him to the relief sought. The trial court failed to apply the proper standard for a motion to dismiss. The trial court failed to accept the facts alleged as true, and failed to view the facts in a light most favorable to Mr. Cook. The Motion to Dismiss should not have been granted by the Commissioner.

After Commissioner Arnett issued his decision Mr. Cook filed an Objection to the Recommendation. A district court's review of a commissioner's recommendation is a de novo review, which may require a evidentiary hearing if the recommendation is not supported by evidence in the record. *Liska v. Liska*, 902 P.2d 644 (Ut. App. 1995). Judge Medley did not make any findings or cite to any support in the record in hearing the objection. Judge Medley simply stated in cursory form that the Commissioner's ruling was not an abuse of discretion.

Judge Medley should have conducted a de novo review, and should have examined the Petition to Modify to determine if it adequately stated a claim for the relief sought, taking the allegations as true and applying all reasonable inferences in favor of Mr. Cook. Judge Medley also should have made findings of sufficient detail and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps taken to reach his ultimate decision to dismiss the Petition to Modify. *Williamson v. Williamson*, 983 P.2d 1103 (Ut. App. 1999). Judge Medley failed to apply the proper standard in reviewing the Commissioner's recommendation and failed to make sufficient findings to support his

ultimate decision to dismiss the Petition. The Petition to Modify does state a claim for which modification may be granted. The Order of Dismissal should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING MR. COOK'S VERIFIED PETITION TO MODIFY THE DIVORCE DECREE AS IT PROPERLY STATES A CLAIM FOR RELIEF

A motion to dismiss a complaint is to be granted and affirmed only if it is clear that the claimant is not entitled to any relief under any state of facts that could be proven to support the relief sought. *Colman v. Utah State Land Bd.*, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990). When determining whether a trial court properly granted a motion to dismiss, the factual allegations in the complaint are to be accepted as true and the appellate court is to consider them and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from them, in a light most favorable to the claimant. *Russell Packard Dev. Inc. v. Carson*, 78 P.3d 616 (Ut. App. 2003).

To succeed on a petition to modify, the moving party must show a substantial and material change of circumstances has occurred and that the change was not contemplated in the previously entered decree. *Boyce v. Goble*, 8 P.3d 1042 (Ut. App. 2000). Mr. Cook's Petition to Modify in this case alleges a substantial and material change of circumstances, by asserting that on or about August 11, 2005, after entry of the Decree; the care, custody and control of the parties' minor child, James Gardner Cook, was improperly relinquished to the care, custody, and control of the maternal grandparents, Glen and Jody Gardner.

Mr. Cook alleges that such a change of circumstances, i.e. the relinquishment of the care, custody, and control over James Gardner Cook, was never contemplated by the parties in the previously entered Decree. Mr. Cook reasonably contemplated that the care, custody, and control of the minor child would remain with Ms. Cook, which is specifically provided for in the Decree. Again the allegations in the Petition are to be taken as true and considered in a light most favorable to Mr. Cook. Under this standard, it was improper for the Commissioner to grant the Motion to Dismiss the Petition to Modify, in this case.

Furthermore, the Commissioner failed to make any specific findings on the record regarding the allegations in the Petition to Modify, particularly as to those allegations occurring after entry of the Divorce Decree. *Williamson v. Williamson*, 983 P.2d 1103 (Ut. App. 1999) (the court should make findings of sufficient detail and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the court reaches its ultimate decision). A relinquishment of custody to another person, reflects on the custodial parent's parenting ability and the functioning of the custodial parent, sufficient to show a substantial and material change of circumstances to modify a divorce decree. *Hogge v. Hogge*, 649 P.2d 51 (Utah 1982).

/

/

/

/

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING MR. COOK'S VERIFIED PETITION TO MODIFY STATING THAT THE PARTIES CONTEMPLATED THE CHANGE IN CUSTODY WHEN NO EVIDENCE OF THIS WAS PRESENTED AND WHEN THE DECREE ITSELF CONTAINS NO PROVISION ANTICIPATING SUCH A CHANGE

Without making any specific findings or holding any type of evidentiary hearing, the Commissioner (when he was only to consider the Motion to Quash), simply granted the Motion to Dismiss, stating that the parties contemplated such a change in custody in the prior Divorce Decree. However, in order for the court to find that a material change of circumstances was contemplated in a divorce decree, there must be some evidence of this presented. Preferably in the form of a provision within the decree itself, that the trial court anticipated the specific change. *Durfee v. Durfee*, 796 P.2d 713, 176 (Ut. App. 1990).

Such a change of custody was not anticipated by the parties; and there is no evidence that the parties agreed or anticipated that there would be a change of custody to the maternal grandparents. Furthermore, the relinquishment of custody to the maternal grandparents is not provided for in the Decree, nor is it at all contemplated in the Decree. The maternal grandparents have no specific rights under the Decree. In fact, the Decree specifically awards the care, custody and control of the minor child to Ms. Cook; not to the maternal grandparents.

/

/

III. THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN REVIEWING THE COMMISSIONER'S RECOMMENDATION UNDER AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION STANDARD

After Commissioner Arnett issued his decision Mr. Cook filed an Objection to the Recommendation. A district court's review of a commissioner's recommendation is a de novo review, which may require a evidentiary hearing if the recommendation is not supported by evidence in the record. *Liska v. Liska*, 902 P.2d 644 (Ut. App. 1995). Judge Medley did not make any findings or cite to any support in the record in hearing the objection. Judge Medley simply stated that the Commissioner's ruling was not an abuse of discretion.

Judge Medley should have conducted a de novo review, and should have examined the Petition to Modify to determine if it adequately stated a claim for the relief sought, taking the allegations as true and applying all reasonable inferences in favor of Mr. Cook. Judge Medley failed to apply the proper standard in reviewing the Commissioner's recommendation.

Furthermore, Judge Medley should have made findings of sufficient detail and should have included enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps taken in reaching his ultimate decision to dismiss the Petition to Modify. *Williamson v. Williamson*, 983 P.2d 1103 (Ut. App. 1999).

The Petition to Modify does allege sufficient allegations, which if proven true and taken in a light most favorable to Mr. Cook, may entitle him to the relief sought. The trial court failed to apply the proper standard for a motion to dismiss. The trial court

failed to accept the facts alleged as true, and failed to view the facts in a light most favorable to Mr. Cook. The Petition to Modify does state a claim for relief and the Order of Dismissal should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

The Petition to Modify Divorce Decree, when taking the allegations alleged as true and applying all inferences in favor of Mr. Cook; does state a claim for relief, sufficient to withstand a Motion to Dismiss. It was error for the trial court to grant the Motion to Dismiss under this standard.

The Petition to Modify adequately states a substantial and material change of circumstances after entry of the Decree, which was not anticipated by the parties, or provided for in the Decree itself. These allegations are sufficient to state a claim for the relief sought. Therefore, the Motion to Dismiss should have been denied.