2006

Lisa Cook v. Brad Cook : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this Appeal pursuant to, Utah Code Ann. §78-2A-3(2)(h) amended; and Rules 3 and 4, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

A. Constitutional Provisions

There are no Constitutional provisions that would be or are applicable in this matter.

B. Rules

Rule 12(b)(6) U.R.C.P

How presented. Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter, (2) lack of jurisdiction over the person, (3) improper venue, (4) insufficiency of process, (5) insufficiency of service of process, (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, (7) failure to join an indispensable party. A motion making any of these defenses shall be made before pleading if a further pleading is permitted. No defense or objection is waived by being joined with one or more other defenses or objections in a responsive pleading or motion or by further pleading after the denial of such motion or objection. If a pleading sets forth a claim for relief to which the adverse party is not required to serve a responsive pleading, the adverse party may assert at the trial any defense in law or fact to that claim for relief. If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion

shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL FACTS

Appellee herein sets forth relevant additional facts to supplement that which has previously been submitted by the Appellant in his brief.

(1) In the Findings of Fact entered by the Court on or about August 2, 2005 in regard to the Trial in the above-entitled matter the Court stated in paragraph 12 of the Findings & Conclusions, “As referenced in these Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Court finds that respondent’s testimony and much of the evidence presented on his behalf lacks credibility and is not worthy of belief or entitled to much weight. Respondent’s lack of credibility as found by the Court is rooted in respondent’s felony convictions for Forgery and Theft by Deception; his statement that he lied about his income on a rental application; the uncontraverted testimony that he intended to financially ruin petitioner and the minor children; respondent’s statement that it is more important to pay tithing than child support and alimony; respondent’s demonstrated anger on the witness stand; respondent’s false testimony that he completed the evaluation with Dr. Davies and his odd responsibility shifting statement that every man has seen pornography; and that he misrepresented the condition of the home mortgage to petitioner, resulting in eviction and foreclosure of the marital residence. Respondent’s lack of credibility permeates his whole case.”

ARGUMENT

A. NEITHER COMMISSIONER ARNETT NOR JUDGE MEDLEY ERRED OR ABUSED THEIR DISCRETION IN DISMISSING MR. COOK'S VERIFIED PETITION TO MODIFY THE DECREE OF DIVORCE.

(1) Rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure specifically grants to the Court the, "...right to dismiss a complaint when a party fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." Commissioner Arnett reviewed the Verified Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce and determined that the Respondent/Appellant did in fact fail to state a claim upon which relief could be granted due to the fact that there were not any substantial or material changes in circumstance alleged which would justify any modification.

(2) As stated in *Hogge v. Hogge*, 649 P.2d 51 (Utah 1982) a party seeking a modification of custody must show that there has been a change of circumstance on which the custody award was based, which substantially and materially affects the custodial parent's parenting ability or the functioning of the custodial relationship. Further, in *Becker v. Becker* 694 P.2d 608, (Utah 1984) the Court indicated that not only must there be a change of circumstance, but it needs to be specific in relation to the modifications sought.

(3) In the Affidavit of Jody Gardner, (Exhibit 'A') she confirms that there were no changes in circumstance since the trial in the above-entitled matter and the entry of the Decree of Divorce. The mere fact that the Petitioner and her mother had signed the necessary documents to allow the minor child to continue in the same school that she was attending at the time of the Decree of Divorce is not a change that is significant in relation to the modifications sought by the Respondent/Appellant in regard to the custody of the minor child, Gardner.

(4) The care, custody, and control of the minor child, Gardner, has always been with the Petitioner/Appellee and has never been relinquished to anyone. The fact that the Petitioner/Appellee had to secure the help of her mother in taking care of her children due to the financial burden placed upon the Petitioner/Appellee due to the Respondent/Appellant's failure to support her and the children and incurring arrearage in child-support and alimony of over one-hundred and fifty-thousand dollars (\$150,000.00) should not now be used against her to assert that there has been any change in circumstance justifying a modification.

(5) Further, as stated in the Order (Exhibit 'B') from the hearing where the Verified Petition was dismissed, Commissioner Arnett found that the allegations in the Respondent/Appellant's Petition to Modify alleged facts that occurred prior to the Decree of Divorce being entered by the Court. Said facts were specifically that the minor child Gardner had been with his grandmother prior to the Decree of Divorce and has continued to spend some of the time with the grandmother. This does not constitute a change of circumstance since it was a circumstance that was occurring prior to the Decree of Divorce being entered.

B. THE VERIFIED PETITION TO MODIFY THE DECREE OF DIVORCE SHOULD HAVE BEEN DISMISSED BASED UPON THE SHORT PERIOD OF TIME BETWEEN THE DECREE OF DIVORCE AND THE FILING OF THE VERIFIED PETITION.

(1) The Decree of Divorce was entered on the 2nd of August, 2005. The Respondent/Appellant filed his Verified Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce on the 27th of September, 2005, approximately eight weeks later. It is true that the last day of the trial in this matter was the 31st of March, 2005, however Judge Medley did not enter his memorandum

decision until May 20th, 2005.

(2) A Petition to Modify brought within a relatively short time since the award of custody in the Decree of Divorce is frowned upon by the Courts. In *Thorpe v. Jensen*, 817 P.2d 387, 391 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) the Utah Court of Appeals stated as follows:

“This initial post-divorce period is frequently difficult, traumatic, and emotional for children. They are often subject to social, community, educational, and lifestyle changes. Courts should exercise caution in disturbing custody awards during the early reconstructive months after a divorce. It is ordinarily best to let the dust settle for a time, lest temporary factors incident to readjustment be mistaken for material changes.”

(3) As stated in the Order (Exhibit ‘B’) from the hearing dismissing the Verified Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce, Commissioner Arnett correctly found that the Respondent filed his Petition to Modify before the ink was dry on the Decree of Divorce, and before any court could determine whether any changes were significant, material, or permanent.

C. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE COMMISSIONER DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION.

(1) Judge Medley was not required to conduct an evidentiary hearing and his review on the Respondent/Appellant’s Objection to Ruling was appropriate in determining whether or not Commissioner Arnett abused his discretion in dismissing the Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce. The Respondent/Appellant’s assertion that Judge Medley did not review the Verified Petition to Modify is absurd. Judge Medley always reviews the file and all pleadings and had reviewed the Petition to Modify prior to sustaining Commissioner Arnett’s ruling.

(2) Judge Medley was not required to make findings since there was no evidentiary

hearing and his decision was only to review Commissioner Arnetts ruling to see whether or not he abused his discretion. Commissioner Arnett made the findings in regard to the dismissal of the Petition to Modify, as stated in his Order. (Exhibit ‘B’)

D. COMMISSIONER ARNETT WAS CORRECT IN DISMISSING THE VERIFIED PETITION ALSO ON THE GROUNDS OF “UNCLEAN HANDS.

(1) As stated in the Order (Exhibit ‘B’) from the hearing dismissing the Petition to Modify, Commissioner Arnett found that the Respondent has “unclean hands” in regard to his non-payment of child-support and alimony and further that he had abused the processes of the Court, specifically in regard to Rules 15, 16, 6-401, and 101. Commissioner Arnett was very familiar with the numerous pleadings filed by the Respondent/Appellant and the numerous times he had required the Petitioner/Appellee to appear before the Court, on claims that did not have any merit. As stated in the Findings by Judge Medley, the Respondent/Appellant’s main goal in this divorce action had been to financially ruin the Petitioner and the minor children. His filing of three different appeals in this matter only confirms Judge Medley’s findings. The fact that he filed the Petition to Modify within weeks after the Decree of Divorce was signed also confirms said findings.

(2) As the Court is well aware, the Trial Court in divorce actions is a Court of Equity and a party coming to a Court of Equity must come with “clean hands.” The doctrine of “unclean hands” has been applicable in different cases where a party engages in some kind of fraud, deceit, or a consistent defiance of the Court’s orders. In other words, a party who seeks an equity remedy must have acted in good faith and not in violation of equitable principles. Such is the circumstance of the present case. [See *Jacobson v. Jacobson* 557 P.2d 156, (Utah 1976) *Hone v.*

Hone 95 P.3d 1221 (2004 Ut. App. 241)]


(4) Further, a District Court's application of the "unclean hands" doctrine is reviewable only for abuse of discretion. (*Hone v. Hone*) Judge Medley did not find that Commissioner Arnett had abused his discretion in regard to applying the doctrine of "unclean hands" and this Court should also find no abuse of discretion in Judge Medley's sustaining Commissioner Arnett's finding and ruling.

CONCLUSION

Neither Commissioner Arnett nor Judge Medley abused their discretion in dismissing the Petition to Modify. The Trial Court correctly found that the Petition to Modify did not state any claim for relief in regard to any change of circumstance that occurred after the Decree of Divorce was entered. Further, the Trial Court was accurate in finding that the ink was not yet dry on the Decree of Divorce and the Respondent/Appellant was only continuing his intent to ruin the Petitioner/Appellee financially while he continued to ignore the orders of the Court in regard to paying his child-support and alimony.